®.%. PHouse of Repregentatives
Committee on the Judiciary

TWashington, BE 205156216
®ne Hundred Ninth Congress

January 28, 2005

Mr. Chris Swecker

Assistant Director

Criminal Investigative Division
Federal Bureau of Investigation
935 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Washington, DC 20535-0001

Dear Mr. Swecker:

I am in receipt of your letter concerning potential election fraud in Hocking County
(enclosed). I very much appreciate your willingness to open an investigation into election
irregularities in the Ohio presidential election. However, at this time, I believe it is incumbent
upon the Justice Department to not only provide a more complete and thorough response to the
concerns | have raised, but to engage in a more comprehensive investigation of these matters. In
particular, I am requesting that you investigate the very serious allegations of vote tampering and
fraud in Clermont County,' and also more fully respond to the numerous concerns regarding
Triad, many of which have arisen since you conducted your preliminary inquiry.

Clermont County Vote Tampering

According to a story just released by Raw Story,? based on a series of signed affidavits
(enclosed), we have also received strong evidence of vote tampering if not outright fraud in
Clermont County, Ohio, which, according to the Cincinnati Enguirer, was one of three counties
that made the difference in President Bush’s victory over Senator Kerry in Ohio in 2004

'Larisa Alexandrovna, Ohio recount volunteers allege electoral tampering, legal
violations and possible fraud, THE RAW STORY, Jan. 26, 2005, available at
http://rawstory.com/news/2005/index.php?p=7.

2 arisa Alexandrovna, Ohio recount volunteers allege electoral tampering, legal
violations and possible fraud, THE RAW STORY, Jan. 26, 2005, available at
http://rawstory.com/news/2005/index.php?p=7.

3Carl Weiser, Presidential vote pattern same as 2000, THE CINCINNATI ENQUIRER, Jan.
24, 2005, at 2B.
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Several volunteers who observed the recount in Clermont County, Ohio, prepared
affidavits alleging serious tampering, violations of state and federal law, and possible fraud.
They assert that some ballots clearly marked for Kerry/Edwards were counted for Bush/Cheney.
Specifically, during the Dec. 14, 2004 hand recount, volunteers noticed stickers covering the
Kerry/Edwards oval, whereas the Bush/Cheney oval was “colored in.” Beneath the stickers, the
Kerry/Edwards oval was selected. These opti-scan ballots were then fed into the machines after
the hand recount, and counted for Bush/Cheney.

Stephen Spraley, a Clinton County Democrat observer, saw the stickers on at least ten
opti-scan ballots. Mr. Spraley brought this issue to the attention at one of the meetings with the
Board of Elections, and “a Republican board member said the stickers were put on election
night.” However, Clermont’s Democratic Party Chief O’Donnell “said she knew nothing about
the stickers,” according to Mr. Spraley.

Another observer, Bob Drake, corroborates Mr. Spraley’s allegations. “One person
offered that [the stickers] must have been placed on the ballots by someone at the precinct on
Election Day, and that no one could be responsible for that . . . . Everyone, including the
Executive Director Danny Bare, denied having ever seen them before or having any knowledge
of them,” Mr. Drake said. Jeannine Tater, a witness for the elections, corroborates the above
events in her affidavit.

During the meeting, according to Mr. Spraley, Mr. Drake, Ms. Tater, and other witnesses,
the ballots with stickers were counted for Bush/Cheney, even though the Kerry/Edwards oval
was clearly marked underneath. Several Clermont Board of Election employees, who wished to
remain anonymous, confirmed that there were stickers placed on both the tabulators and the
ballots. The same employees said that the stickers did cover the oval next to Kerry/Edwards.

This evidence of vote tempering supported by attached affidavits would appear to violate
numerous provisions of federal law. The Voting Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. §1973, provides for
criminal penalties for any person who, in any election for federal office, “knowingly and willfully
deprives, defrauds, or attempts to defraud the residents of a State of a fair and impartially
conducted election process, by . . . the procurement, casting, or tabulation of ballots that are
known by the person to be materially false, fictitious, or fraudulent under the laws of the State in
which the election is held.” Section 1974 requires the retention and preservation of all voting
records and papers for a period of 22 months from the date of a federal election and makes it a
felony for any person to “willfully steal, destroy, conceal, mutilate, or alter” any such record?

*Ohio law has a mirror provision which requires that all ballots be “carefully preserved”
for 22 months.
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In this current context, several citizens of Clermont County appear to have been deprived
of their voting rights. Ballots clearly marked for Kerry/Edwards appear to have been fraudulently
obscured by stickers and counted as votes for Bush/Cheney. Given the seriousness of these
allegations, I urge your office to investigate this violation of the Voting Rights Act.

Triad

Subsequent to my initial letter to you, Mr. Barbian, the Ohio Field Representative of
Triad GSI, admitted to altering tabulating software in Hocking, Lorain, Muskingum, Clark,
Harrison and Guernsey counties as well.” Todd Rapp, President of Triad, also has confirmed that
these sorts of changes are standard procedure for his company.® It is particularly important to
note that during an interview, film maker Lynda Byrket asked Barbian, “you were just trying to
help them so that they wouldn’t have to do a full recount of the county, to try to avoid that?”
Mr. Barbian answered, “Right.” At the hearing, Barbian noted that he had “provided [other
counties] reports so they could review the information on their own.”’

We have received several additional reports of machine irregularities involving several
other counties serviced by Triad,® including a report that Triad was able to alter election software
by remote access:

. In Union County, the hard drive on the vote tabulation machine, a Triad machine, had
failed after the election and had been replaced. The old hard drive was returned to the
Union County Board of Elections in response to a subpoena.

. The Directors of the Board of Elections in both Fulton and Henry County stated that the
Triad company had reprogrammed the computer by remote dial-up to count only the
presidential votes prior to the start of the recount .’

’Interview of Michael Barbian by Lynda Byrket, available at
http://www.truthout.org/docs_04/122404X .shtml.

®Preliminary Transcript, Footage of Hocking County Board Meeting, Dec. 20, 2004, on
file with the House Judiciary Committee Democratic Staff.

Id.

¥Yost v. National Voting Rights Institute, No. C2-04-1139 (S.D. Ohio) (decl. of Lynne
Serpe).

*Statement of Green Party County Coordinator, Henry County Recount, available at
http://www.votecobb.org/recount/ohio_reports/counties’/henry.php
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. In Monroe County, the 3% hand-count failed to match the machine count twice.
Subsequent runs on that machine did not match each other nor the hand count. The
Monroe County Board of Elections summoned a repairman from Triad to bring a new
machine and the recount was suspended and reconvened for the following day.

. In Harrison County, a representative of the Triad company reprogrammed and retested the
tabulator machine and software prior to the start of the recount. The Harrison County
tabulating computer is connected to a second computer which is linked to the Secretary of
State’s Office in Columbus.'®

It therefore appears that Triad and its employees provided “cheat sheets” to those
counting the ballots. The cheat sheets told them how many votes they should find for each
candidate, and how many over and under votes they should calculate to match the machine count.
In that way, they could avoid doing a full county-wide hand recount mandated by state law. This
would frustrate the entire purpose of the recount law — to randomly ascertain if the vote counting
apparatus is operating fairly and effectively, and if not, to conduct a full hand recount. Such a
course of conduct would appear to violate numerous provisions of federal and state law as
detailed in my previous letter to you.

Given the seriousness of these allegations, I believe it is imperative that your office
expand their investigation as well as brief me and my Judiciary Committee staff on your findings.
I look forward to hearing from you by February 3, 2005, if at all possible. Please reply through
Perry Apelbaum or Ted Kalo of my Judiciary Committee staff, 2142 Rayburn House Office
Building, Washington, DC 20515 (tel: 202-225-6504; fax: 202-225-4423).

Thank you for taking this matter so seriously and I look forward to working with you in
the future.

Sjacerely,

John Conyers,
Ranking Mem

Enclosures

'“The Harrison County Board of Elections kept voted ballots and unused ballots in a room
open to direct public access. The Board placed voted ballots in unsealed transfer cases stored in
an old wooden cabinet that, at one point, was said to be lockable and, at another point, was said
to be unlockable.



U.S. Department of Justice

Federal Bureau of Investigation

Washington, D. C. 20535-0001

January 12, 2005

Honorable John Conyers, Jr.
Ranking Minority Member
Committee on the Judiciary
U.S. House of Representatives

Washington, D.C. 20515

Dear Congressman Conyers:

This letter is in response to your letter dated
December 15, 2004, to the Special Agent in Charge of the Federal
Bureau of Investigation's (FBI's) Cincinnati, Ohio Field Office
and Attorney Larry E. Beal, Hocking County, Ohio Prosecutor. In
your letter, you requested an investigation regarding information
you received regarding possible election tampering in Ohio during
the recent presidential election. Your letter was subsequently
forwarded to the FBI's Criminal Investigative Division for reply.

Upon receipt of your letter, the FBI's Cincinnati Field
Office conducted a thorough inquiry of the information you
provided in your letter, which included interviews with officials
from the Hocking County Board of Elections, including Sherole L.
Eaton; other local and state election and law enforcement
officials; and, employees of Triad GSI. The results of this
inquiry were also reported to and reviewed by the Department of
Justice (DOJ), Public Integrity Section, Elections Crime Branch
and the United States Attorney's Office (USAO) for the Southern
District of Ohio. Based on this inguiry, neither the DOJ, the
USAO for the Southern District of Ohio, the FBI, nor their local
and state counterparts, found any credible evidence that anyone
engaged in any conduct which violated federal election laws.



Honorable John Conyers, Jr.

I understand your concerns regarding this matter, and I
appreciate your prompt referral of this information to the SAC of
the FBI's Cincinnati Field Office for appropriate action. I hope
this response adequately answers all of your concerns. If you
have any further information or questions regarding this matter,
please contact myself or the Assistant Director, Office of
Congressional Affairs, Eleni P. Kalisch.

Sincerely yours,

o

Chris Swecker
Assistant Director
Criminal Investigative Division

CC: Honorable F. James Sensenbrenner, Jr.
Chairman
Committee on the Judiciary
U.S. House of Representatives
Washington, DC 20515



AFFIDAVIT
CLERMONT COUNTY RECOUNT
PRESIDENTIAL ELECTION 2004

1. 1, Stephen Spralcy, after being duly cautioncd and sworn, Rate that the following
is true based on my best recollections and upon my personal knowlcdge.

2. My name is Stephen M. Spraley. 1 reside at 1185 Jarva Lane, Springboro, Ohio. !
was asked 1o volunteer for the Ohio Democratic Party as a Recount Coordinator
for Clermont County on behalf of the Presidential Election of 2004. 1 been very
involved in d‘epmeessofbmnoaacyandevennowamconwnedforthe right of
every Amcrican Citizen of the United Statcs of America to have their votic
counted.

3. | arrived at the Board of Elections of Clermont County, Ohio on the 14* of Dec.
2004 just after the BOE mecting, 1 was greeted by Dan Barc the Dir, of the BOE
and he explained the outcome of the mecting. He first said that the Board decided
todmmwmdonﬂysdemomdmmsoadecidedwpickmcsmdm
thirtcen procincts with the remainder made up from onc of the larger precincts Lo
round ofl' the 3% that was nceded for the hand recount. | commented that isnot a
random scloction and his response was that that was decided on and that is their
process. | was also told that if questions were to be asked they were to go through
Kathy Jones, the Deputy Dir. 1 requested the service reports for the tabulating
machines before the Nov. 2 , 2004 election. Dan Barc said that he would ged
them for me and that he had the tabulating machines serviced before the clection
and again before the recount. ] asked what company performed (he servicing and
he told me he would get that information for me later, which he never did. | again
asked for the reports and to this day 1 never saw the reports. The tabulating
machines were in 8 back room, four machines, und we had asked to scc the start
counter and were not given the chance to see it. They just started the count of the
hand counted ballots on the tabulating machine. This process started after the
hand count.

4. The first task was to watch the hand count with six stations set up. | could only
watch one station with a Republican and Democrat counting and a Green Party
and myself watching. | noticed that there were ballots with oval stickers over
different candidatcs and 1 concentrated on the presidestial race and saw that there
was a ballot with an oval sticker over Sohn Kerry & John Edwards oval spot and it
clcarly had u durkened tone 1o it cven though there was a white oval sticker over
it. Bush & Chaney was also marked with that oval filled in. 1 asked to have this
ballot be revicwed by the BOE mecting and that they also review another ballot
thaxMttholmKeny&JohnEdwardsova!markcdwdalsohndﬁteirm
written in with that oval filled in also. 1 had asked Kathy Jones where did these
stickers come from and who put them on the ballots? She did not respond because
she was interrupted by Dan Bare and He told mc that the board will have another
meeting and there is where questions sbout ballots will be determined.



3.

6.

At that point, the board had its mosting headed by Priscille O"Donndll. Thoro was
another Democrat and one Republican board member st the meeting. | think the
sccond Republican on the board was out ill. At the mecting, Priscills askod if
there were any questions, I asked who put stickers on the ballotx, whece did thoy
come from and why were they put on? The Republican board member smid the
stickors were put on clection night. Priscilla said she kncw nothing about the
stickers. At that point thers was a hush in the soom and nothing more was said.
ashudagﬁn!bra&nenﬁwionbythcboudbyavoteregmdhgmetmatmcmd
the stickered baflot,  Without a clear understanding or agreement about how the
Mg&onﬂnmmmdmbatwiodwmtthcbanotua&nh
ballot, The second baflot of concern was the ballot where the John Kerry oval
was filled in and Kerry's name was written in on the write-in [ino right below it.
The Democrat buard member made a motion to accept the ballot as a vote for
Kerry, but there was no second so there was no votc, Dan Bare said both in the
meeting and beforc and after the meeting that the ballot shoukd be treated a5 an
overvole 50 that the hand count would be consistent with the way the machine
would count it. After the meeting, | consulted the state statule and showed onc of
MRepublicmbowmnbers(lbdhchsnmme)themviﬁon(Obio
Rovised Code Section 3505.27 Counting and Tabulating the Ballots, Section (D))
that said three board votes were necessary 1o detarmine how a ballot is counted.
He had (old mo that poll workers were allowed to make the determination at the
polls on Elcction Day according to the law. Tim responded by saying the board
muldbﬁngupmddismmmyconmabouttbomcwwdvaﬁdityofﬁn
vote at the next board meeting. He said that the law 1 had must be a more recent
version,

Shortly after the band counted ballots were put throagh the scarming tabulutors 1,
2, 3, and 4, tabulating machine 2 was having problems and continued 10 have
problems, 5o they shut the machine down. Maureen McCarthy started to work on
the machine to got it back online, but it was not used for the rest of the day.
iachines numbers | and 3 continued 1o have problams but they used them
anvway. The machines werc jamming and distorting the ballots from time 1o

lme. ¥ hey continued 10 process the bullots. They siopped ior 1he day oerore 1ae
foeding procoss was complated, and [ was not peosent tho rext day, T mentioned
L0 Ll sare Guring (NG FOUIATION a3t NS SHOVIE 1Ys pay for wne re-sorviclng or'the
machines because they broke down and 1 said that | wanted to see the servicine
PO sOf [qDLIASg 100t Ele 2 SATUE 91 AWK TIM0D 2l weee YRNE WY 10 CHUSE O 1S
probiom, He xaid be would uct that for me. but T never recelved the report. When
1 returaed the followine Mondav. he sax) the servicini report was nol availbic.

§ ralned wnl Jeumue L UL 1 ATHE IOMUVISL IV 210 uelfe We et g
the buildine 1 saw Dan Bare i the parking iot. He came aver to mv car window
I | uAee fav Lnste Spterid tedat Sie WA LY BUE elLievers ang A YAty
witnosses are in there now looking at the volline books. i asked whether theso
WETE Lt SIenelitn e SOUUKL. 14T IRUU Ntk 1ML 18 BOL WL was reuuesis 10 WG oY
John McTienc atiorncy for the Ohio Demoomtic Party recoun cfion. i said i



wanted to scc the signature books anyway. Jeanine Tator heard me say that. He
said because this was not requesied in writing, | could not see it. | asked about
the absentee ballots and rejoctod provisional ballots and he said he wouldn’t get
that information (o us until he had contacted the voters whose ballots were
rejected. The person whose job it would be to make follow-up culls was on
vacation, 30 they could not give us the information. He would not go irto ber
files 1o call the voters because that would be a breach of her trust, ) thought there
should be a Democrut and a Republican doing the contacting, because he said all
alongthutherewasdwaysommwdmkepubianmmyiswe. |
have 0o idca whether the porson on vacation was & Democrat or a Republican.
We nover got to see the information.

8. As1was looking through the polling books that were handwritten by one
Demacrat and one Republican at the polls on Election Day, | noticed that there
were dilTerent notations and checkmarks in the back of the books for provisional
ballots. Next to the names of the provisional voters there were markings like
checkmarks and notations. There were 1o two books consistent in their
notations. 1 was concerned because Dan Bare had reitcrated that they were very
conxistent in their methodology in dealing with the count, | asked what the
checkmarks refirred (0 and he said he had no ideu what their methodology was.
He didn't know what the notations in the books meant.

Swpen, this 25 day of January, 2005,

. 7
) Jﬁ/-&-" < ;séa‘g:/ VAT 4= T
¢

Stephen /ZJI:I;)’ '

Sworn before me and subsciibed in my preseace tbi:.-j,f%sy of January, 2005.

LOW_%- g et

NOTARY PUBLIC

My cammission cxpires on.




AFFIDAVIT

POTENTIAL FRAUD AND COVER-UFP IN UNION TOWNSHIP E,
CLERMONT COUNTY, OHIO IN CONNECTION WITH TIIE OHIO

1.

2.

2004 ELECTION RECOUNT & CERTIFICATION

1, Jearainc Tater, after being duly coutioned and sworn, state that the
following is truc based upon my personal knowledge.

My name is Jeannine Chernie Tater. [ reside at 17552 Van Buren
Street, Huntington Beuch, California. [ am currently unemployed. |
held an MBA in Marketing received in 1996, from California State
University, at Long Beach I also hald 4 CLAD Single Subjcct
Teaching Credential in Busincss Fducation issued in 2001, issucd by
the state of California. I hold a BS in Business Administration
received in 1977, from the University of Southern California.
California.

On December 14 - 20, 2004, I winessed a vote recount for the county
of Clcrmont, Ohio. Clermont County uscd a ballot system where
voters blackened pre-ptinted circles next to the name of the candidare
they selected.

Union Township Machinc Scan of Ballots;

4.

5.

The following are the numbers were provided to me by Maureen
McCerthy as the total votes cast for three precincts in Clermont
County 2004 election :

Unien Township E: 1,190 total votes cast
Bethel Village A: 412 total votes cast
Tate Township A: 387 total votes casl

During the Green Party 2004 Ohio Recount, 1 was a watess an behalf
of losing c:miclidute Kerry. The Board of Elections machine scanned
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100% of the ballots cast for president. During the handling of ballots
that were being fed (hrough the tabulating machine to check the totals
against the official vote counts, T obsexved that the stack of ballots for
Union Township was about 50% larger thun the stack for Rethel
Village A. Based upon the “votes cast” numbers above, the Union
Township stack should be approximately three times as Jarge as
Bethel Village A.

6. Maurcen McCarthy, the information systcms county employee
assisting in the recount, scanned the ballots in the Unton Township E
ballot box; the number of ballots wialed 678. McCarthy said that the
phrase “votes cast” in the official records refers to the actual number
of votes cast.

7. Karhy Jones, Assistant Director for the Board of Elections, disagreed:
she said that “votes cast” refcrred to the number of ballots cast and not
votes cast, 'This makes a difftrence for a two-page ballot, wherc the
number of ballot pages is twice the number of votes. Jones said there
was 3 scoond ballot box containing a one-page referendum on a
zoning issue for the Union Township; she said that the total of the two
boxes was 1,190 ballots, with 678 page one ballots and 512 page two
ballots. This means that 166 voters did not cast page Lwo ballots,

8. Dan Barc, director of the Clermont County Board of Elections,
refised tn explain, saying he will not hand count.

9. In a later conversation, McCarthy said that “Total” number on the
Nov 2, 2004 Abstract Report equaled the number of ballot pages cast
and not numnber of voters. 1 was shown a second ballot box by Jones
and McCarthry; they told me that the ballot box contained the second
page of the ballot.

10. Bare explained that only in Union Township’s case did the numbcr of
ballot pages exceed number of votcrs, sitice only Union Township
out of all 191 precincts had a 2- page bullot. Director Bare cxplained
this anomaly occurred because this precinct, and only this precinet,
Lad 2 3 column initiative regarding rezoning, which took almost a
whole 1-sided page. This seerned strange to me, because I would have
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thought that an ininative would be for a2 whole township, which would
be comprised of multiple precincis.

11, Bare agrced that the total number of ballot pages included the pages
from the first ballot box, which included the presidential election and
most issues, and the ballots from the second box, for the second page,
with the three-paragraph zoning issue. Dan went on to explain since
only 678 votes werc cast for president, and the other 512 ballots were
for the zominy initiative, the sum of these numbers equals the 1,190
“total votcs cast” shown on the clection night abstract. He insisted that
my question was jrrcicvant and said it was dme to go on.

When I was done with witnessing the recount for the day, [ looked at
the Election Night Abstruct for Union ‘Lownship E in Clermont
County on the Intemet. The abstract repart can be vicwed at
http://www clermontelections. org/pdf/election2004/President-
VicePresident.pdf. Created on c¢lection night, Abstract for Clermont
County indicates Union Township E total votes were 1,190. It
indicated 878 votes were cast for Bush and 378 for Kemry.

12. Apparently, Kathy Jones, a Democratic Party Deputy Director,
misinformed me as to what the “total voter” figure in the official
records represeis. I do not know why a Democrat would have told
me this. The following morming, December 16, 2004, Kathy Jones
was preparing a list of problem precincts. I asked her why Union
Township E was not on the list. Kathy stated it was not a problem
since it balanced. T responided that [ still had questions and was not
satisfied with thc explanation. Director Dan Bare walked up to mc
and screamed at me -- about 4 inches from my face, “If you can not
conduct yoursclf properly and stop bothering my staff about that
issuc, you will not be permitted to stay.” I stated, “I am calm, not
screaming, and 1 have questions that are unresolved.” Director Bare
reiterated that, if I agked any more questions about Township E, I was
out. Since I was the only person currently at the recount representing
Kerry, I stopped inquiring about the Township and decided to save my

Page 3 of 8



qestions for the Board of Directors meeting at 2:00 PM that
aficrnoon.

Presidential Race Ballots included Ralph Nader:

14.Because it seemed that having the name of Ralph Nader on the
Clermont County absentee ballots even though he was not a valid
candidate would tend to confuse voters and cause some voters to vote
for Nader instead of Ketry while under the mistaken ympression that a
Nader vore would be counted, T inquired as 10 why Nader’s name
remained on the ballot after he was no longer a valid candidate for
President. Director Bare iniormed Green Party witnessesr Bob Drake,
Eric, Tina, and me that he had atternpted everything possible to
remove Ralph Nader from the ballot. Rare claimed he was told by the
ptinters (Dayton Ballot Prinling) that it was too late to remove Nader
from the ballot. At first he said that it was too latc to print new hallots
because the absentee ballot mailing deadline was approaching. (
understand that in some, 1f not many, other counties, this prohlern was
resolved by mailing absentee ballots with Nader’s name on the ballot
(and appropriate instructions that he was not a candidate} and
reprinting Flection Day ballots with Nader’s name deleted. Buare later
said he was concerncd that the county “would have no balluts for the
clection. We thought that lcaving Nader's name on the ballot was less
of a problem._” He continued to describe the slips that were included
with ecach abscntce ballot that infurmed voters that a vote for Nader
would not be counted. Similar notices were posted in each voting
booth. Further, poll workets were mnstructed to “let everyone know
{hat a Nader vote would not count,” A worker at the Board of
Elections told us that Clermont County was “first in line at the
printing compauy, and Dan didn’t want to lose that place in line.” Auy
changes to the ballot would result in being moved back in line and
would cause a delay in printing; ¢ven if the prinring had been delayed,
voters still would have received their ballots prior to the election.
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Stickers:

15.0ne of the original witnesses to the recount, a Kerry wilness named
Steve, discavered white oval-shaped stickers on some of the ballots
during the 3% hand count. I personally observed these stickers during
the machine recount. These stickers were used to alter votes on the
op-scan ballot sheets. For example, a Kerry vote was covered with a
sticker, and changed 10 a Bush vore. Several ballots were altered in
this manner. When questioned, all of the Board of Elections
empluyees indicated that they did not use stickers on Election Day to
“correct” ballots. They “also did not provide emgers to votcrs.”
According to Dan Bare, “If a voter made a mistake on a ballot, the
ballot was returned to the precinct judge and a new ballot was issucd;
up to three ballots arc permitted per voter. We did not use stickers to
correct mismarked ballots.”. Eric, a Green Party wimess, requested
and was refused permission to take pictures of stickers on the ballots,
When questioned, all of the emplayees from the Board of Elections
said they had “never seen the stickers” and had no idea where they
came from All confirmed that snckers were not used on Flection
Day. However, all of the witnesses observed thar the same unusually-
shaped oval stickers were used Lo label buttons on all four tabulating
machines. The stickers were clearly from the Board of Blections.
Desgpite the alteration of the ballots, all ballots on which stickers were
used to change the vote were counted. Nonc were rejected by the
tabulating machines as overvotes. If the hand count categorized these
ballols as overvotes and they were fed through the scanner as is, there
would have been a discrepancy in the hand count between the hund
count and rhe {abulator count, potentially causing a 100% hand
recount under the Blackwell election recount guidelines. Obviously,
the BOT. does not want a 100% hand recount.

16.Bare offercd a different explanation of the stickered ballots when
questioned by (he Board at the Board of Kiections meeling on
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December 16. There, he said that years ago, they used to use the
sticker method of correcting “spoiled” votes, i.e., ballots that were
mistead by the scanner due to crasures or stray marks that could not
be adequarely removed with an eraser. He said they then went (o the
“duplicate ballut™ method. In all cascs, there was one Democrat and
one Republican present. With the duplicate ballot system, election
officials cleatly label the duplicate card as a duplicate and the original
as the original. But wc found out later that duplicate cards are used
only for damaged ballots, The Green Party requested a citation to the
authority for use of stickers to altcr votes. The Board (and/or Bare)
indicated it believed the authority for use of duplicate ballots covered
the use of stickers. The ballots that were found with stickers were not
acconipanied by any docuinicntation indicating witnessing of a
Democrat and a Republican, so, in n1y opinion, this fact puts the
explanation given in doubt.

Randomness of precinct selection:

17.Observers were told by the Clennont County Board of Elections that a
random selection of precinets was not used. Rather, the smallest
thirteen precincts were chosen, and one of the larger precincts was
added to reach the 3% for the band count. “This will provide fewer
errors on the rocount,” according to one of the Board of Eleciions
members. Iequests 1o use a random method to sclect the precincts
chosen for the 3% hand count were rejected by Dan Bare and
subsequently by the Board of Elections when the request was made at
the December 16 mecting. "

Ballot Boxes and Keys:

18. When we arrived for the recount the ballot boxes were not sealed nor
did the doors to the Board of Elections offices mec! (he security
cnteria for ballot boxes. They each had a very small master key lock.
The keys were not for a security lock, nor were they printed with the
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words, “do not copy.” Locks for all ballot boxes were identically
kcyed. There were at least 2 keys to these boxes. When Dan Bare
asked for a ballot box key, Becky said she had a key. I saw the other
ballot lock box key left lying on tablc close to the door in front of the
scanming room. I repcat the key to the ballol box was unguarded,
lying on a table. Bob Drake, the Green Party witness said it was there
all day.

19. One employce offcred another employee her lock box key. Ilowever,
the other cmployee said that she did not need the key since she had
found the other key.

Yote Certification; December 16, 2004

20. During the Board of Elections board meeting to certify the recount,
the BOE memberg were not willing to give us a reasonable chance. |
had tried to speak, but it was never my . Bob Drake (a Green Party
witness) made a long statement. 1 raised my hand, but was unable (v
speak. The head board tmember then said, “anyone want to speak? I
move to certify the votes.” The moderator did not break between her
staternents. I was raising iny hand as she said "I move to certify the
votes." Another board member said "I second." It was over and I did
not get a chance tn speak on behalf of Kerry.

Recount December 17. 2004:

21.Although we were told by Dan Barc on Decemnber 16, 2004 to retumn
the next moming at 8:00 AM and we would have 3 recount groups
looking at uncounted absentee ballots, disqualified provisional ballots
and precinct/polling books, when we arrived as insttucted the next
moming, we were told events would nol commencc until 9:00 AM.
At about 10 AM we were told to return at 1:00 PM and 1 team would
look at provisional, absentec and precinct books ar a time. Bare told us
this was because Rare needed a Democrat and Republican for each
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team. 'L eams were to include the 2 BOE cmployees and 1
representative from cach party’s political team.

Final Day of Recount: Dec 20, 2004

22.Stephen Spraley and I arrived at ahout 10:25 and were talking in
Steve's cor. Danny Bare walked up to Steve's car. Danny told us we
were suthorized to look at poll books only, not the voter signature
books. Barc said the reason we could not review the signature poll
books was that the letter from Mr. McTiguc dlid not specificafly sk
for voter sign-in sheets. Bare also told us only 1 person from each
candidate team was permitted to view the poll book. Bare cxplained
further his employce's needed Christmas time and they st gear-up
for another election in February.

Dated January 25, 2005, at _\Jai\(owel ™ British Columbia,

Canada
e Jaly

¢ qﬂx

LOR) M. ZIEBART
DuAlzuiln A Bozkovieh

Burrisiers & Salizitars —'
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WINIOUVEN B.C. vEEaME 3 _ -
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UNITED STATES HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES
JUDICIARY COMMITTEE

AFFIDAVIT

I, Carolyn Beus, afier being first duly cautioned and sworm, state that the
following is true based upon my own personal knowledge:

My pame ix Carolyn Betis. I reside at 6929 Lynnfield Court, Cincinnati, Ohio. 1
am a self-cmployed attorney licensed to practice law in the State of Olxo, [ hold
an nndergraduare degree from Brvn Mawr College, a Master's in Buriness
Administration, with a majot in finance, from the University af Cincinpati
Graduste: College of Business Administration and o Juris Doctor degres from the
Salmon P. Chase College of Law. Northern Kentuchy University. My
professivpal expericnee includes eight yeors as an associate, then principal. of &
Washington. DU - based law firm and senior banker ar a Washington, DC-based
investment bank that served largely governmert-related ciicnts. [ have. among
other things, represented several federal government agencics in designing and
cartying out sules of billions of dollars of government credit ond real estate assets,
counsel to the issuers in billions of dollack of corporate fiuance and securities
Lransasctions with government and Wall Strect 15suers and underwnters, counscl or
consultant with respect to government, NYSE-member finn and independent
public accounting audite. financial advisor (as an employee of FHA's lead
financial advisor) for the Department of Housing and Urban Development and ir-
house coupsel in the management of litigation related to m eight-year-long
Federal l-alse Claims Act case and a six-year-long Court of Federa) Claims case
against the government for breach of conlruct, hoth of which cuses were decided
largely in wy client’s favor and are currently under appeal. During the course of
my career, ] have had experience in many contexts willy white-collar crime, fraud
within government and the private sector and the cover-up of quéstionable
activilics by government ofTicials and governsuent contractors. I also have
expericnee in the arens of subpo=na and discovery of digital documents, hiring of
federal contractors for infurmation technolugy-related work, confliets of intetest
in representation of the government and “scrubbing” of federal databases. Part of
my former employes s work with the povernment involved financial software
design and notional GIS-mapping of linancial assets and moncy flows ona
census-hlock basis.

I was appallcd on the second night hefore the election when | tumed on the
tetevision and found that vor one, but gll three nctwork affiliates in Cineinnat
were covering a Bush campaign rally being held at the stadium, apparently as a
news item, for over an hour. T called the Kerrv campaign headquariers to
gutplain, becausc ) questioned whether this is the way the public airwaves should
be used and whether the notoriously Republican television stotions had been paid



for this coverage as campaign advertising and offered equal timse to the Kerry
CAMpaien,

4. | am a registered independest My first involvement in the 2004 Presidential
clection consisted of pro bonu voluntser attomey work with the Flection
Protection Coalition at inner-city Cincinnati polls. I was a volunieer at four
precincts located in « single voting plage at a bible college in the Over-the-Rhine
neighborhood of Uincinnati, Ohie, in Hamilton County. Bused upon my
nbscrvaotions, most of the voters i these precincts consisted of white voters who
were stiidents, teachers and employees ot the bible (ollege and largely African
Armerican voters whe lived in the neighborhood. some of whom said they wete

voting for the first time.

5. On Election Doy, 2004, I, personally. assisted 5-10 voters with voting problems,
all but onc African-American. The exception was a young white man I estimate
to have been ip his early 1 mid-20s. The problems consisted of:

(2)

(b)

(<)

(d)

(e)

Genern! complaintzs that one of the four precincts had fewer voting
machines than the others, resulting in Jong lines for voting in that precin
and questions among voters whether they could vote at machines set up
for precinels wther than their own,

onfusion among voters, particularly during rush bour when the lines
extended outside the gym in which the vating machines and precinct
tablcs were located, s to which lines corresponded to their proper
precincls, somc voters having stood in the wrong line and been told they
were not registercd,

volers who left without voting because they were told they were not
registercd, even though they either had been registered at the same address
for vears or had registered ar get-out-the-vote rallies that fall held at the
Department of Children and Families or public malls.

voters who left without voting because they werc not listed on the poll list
because they had movcd since the lest clection (of, in some cases. since
the lust day to register Lo vote before (he clection) within the same county
but to & diffeccnt precinct and had not natified the Doard of Elections of
their move, who questioned whether they should vote in the “old™ or the
“new” precinct, and

a voter who had requested an absentee ballot be sent to him on o cruise
ahip in August but who had never reeeived his ubsentee ballot (which was,
reportedly, mailed only 2 week or less before Llactian Nay) and returned
to his home polling place to vote.'

" 10 this case, 1 accordance with poll worker troining mstructions, this fellow was deniad a hallor. We
deterrmned, based upon converaations with Flection Prorection representatives. that a court raling had been
handed down earlier in the day ordering that mdividualz who had bean mailad shuenire ballofs should be
sllowed 0 vatc by abrentes balloy, which would be counted once the determination was made that they hed
not voted abscntee. When the pioll workers called the Hamilon County Board of ¢lections absentoe ballal
line to confirm that tha ruling had oecurred, the Board of Elections representative knew nothwng of the
ruling  Bventimily, afor acvers] hours and pressure axertnd by Election Pramection voluntserz. a noll



Becausc the Election Protection valunteers kncw of the court mhing o the effect
that a provisional ballot voted in an incotrect precinet would not be counted, we
rclated this information as best we could 1o vulcrs eptening the precinets so that
they would come tell us if they were offered provisional ballots. In at least one
case, a voter who way urged to vote a provisional ballot because the voter was not
tisted in the poll book had stood in the wrong linc and was registered to vole in
the zamc voting place in a differcnt precinct. 1can see how; if no Election
Protection volurrteers had been there to explain the problem. voters could have
voted provisiopal ballots that would not have been counted when they went to the
correct polling place but stood in the wiong Jline, Jt was not clear to me (hat poll
workers contronted with veters who were not in the poll books were asking
whether the voters were in the correct precinct line.

6. Some time afier Election Doy, in following news reports on the Internct and
reading cmail messages from the Election Protection Coalition members, T
becarric aware that the Green Party had succerded in raising money for and filing
a successful petition for an clection recount in Ohia. [ was aware on Lhe night of
Election Day that exit polls predicted Ohic would go for Ketry and when I woke
np the next day, the news reports said that Ohio had gone for Bush. T was
skcptical, having Laken statistics and calculvs (including standard devialion
analysis) i business schoo! end understond, generally. statistical sampling
techniques and the value of polls, particularly exit polls. 1had moved to
Cinicifinali in early 2003 and registered independent with an address in what 1
have been told is the zip code thar cantributed mere money to George W. Bush
than any in the countrv other than the Upper East Side of New York. There was
a surprising smount of support for Kerry in this neighborhood, and 1 wus nover,
cver contacted by the Republican Party or any Bush supporter. T was contacted
repeatedly by the Kerry compaign, which appeared w e to have spsut move
money in the area than the Bush campagn.

7. 1 got an email at some point calling for volunteers for the recounts ih several
states, including Ohio. I went nnto a hot-linked website and signed up to
volunteer for the recount in Hamilton Connty. where T live Recause I was the
only attorney volunteer for the Cobb/LaMarche Green Parly recount observer
contingent in my region and the policy of the Hamilton County Board of
Elections was not to allow talking or the taking of 1clcphonc <alls iv. he vote
recount rooms, I decided to ramuin in the waiting room of the Hamilion County
Board of Elections during the recount so that T would be available for ucstions
from other cotmtes. ] was admitied as a recount observer with a “Cobb letter,”
meaning that T was provided with a letrer, signed by David Cobb, stating that I
was an authorized representative of David Cobb in the recount. Each losing
eandidate (i.e.. Cobb, LaMarche and Kexry) was permilied pne recount vbscrver
for each counting station, or Board of Elections recounter. I assume the same

worker finally ealled the main Boarrl af Flections number where 8 representative confirmed that the young
men showd be given a provisional ballat.



number of obscrvers was permined for the Republican Party. There was a room
for the 3% hand recount and a room for running the same punch card ballots that
wrre subject to the hand recount through the voting tabulator. T heligve there
were two observer “stations” in that room. In addition o the Green Party
obscrvers. there were a few Kermry observers and Bush observers. The county
coordinator for the Green Party, Pamcla Futerer, told me that there were few

T .aMarche observers in the region duc to issues having to do with obtaining
originally cxecuted LaMarche Ietters. T helieve the recount started on Tuesday,
December 14, 2004 1 was at Hamilton County for the full first day of the
recount. Very fisw issues atose, and | am aware of no irregularities cncountered
during the recount, although I, porsonally, believer that the randurauess of the 3%
hand recount cstablished by the guidelines igssued by the Ohio Sceretary of State
was not perfext. [t was cxplained to us by thie Direcior of the Board of Elections
that precincts were selected for the random recount by starling with preeingt 1 aod
selecting every thirty-third precinct. A more pertect tandom scection would be,
in my opinion, to choose the firgt prerinct randomly (by drowing numbers from a
har, for example) and then 1ake every thirty third precinet thereatter, thus making
it impossible to predict in advance of the recount which precincts would be
selocted. It was my opinion that. in theory, if the Board of Elections knew at the
timc of the election that there could be a 3% hand recount and that the first and
every thinty-third precinct thereafter method would be used to select precinets,
any manipulation of the vote could be concentrated in other precincts. On the
other band, if the first precinet were nol kvgwn until the recount started, no vate
manipnlation could have taken place with the assurance thut it would net be
derected in the hand recount. The only other issue I cap recall in Hamilton
County was the fact that one Board of Elections recounter was inspecting L
puncheard balluis so quickly for hanging and pregnant chads that the obscrver felt
he or she could not meaningfully observe the accuracy of that coumter’s work.
But Uil was only one of a number of ballet inspection statiens, and there were no
other observer complamts in this regard.

. While ] attended the Hamilton County recount, I received a serics of calls from
recount abservers in Clermont County. The first question had to do with what
constituted » “random® aslection for purposes of the 3% hand recount. Grean
Party observers related to mc that the 3% hand recount precincts had been
sclected in Clermont Cuunty by taking the 3% smallest precinets, plus onc
precinet that would take the total over 3%, The caller explained that the reason
given by Board uf Elections (“BOL.") staff” for this sclection methad is that it
would result in “fewer problems.” 1 told the caller that the poini of a 3% random
selection wuy to obtain a represenative sample of precincts throughout the courity
and selecting the smallest previncts was certainly not a method calculated w
pbtzin a representative sample, particularly in light of the prediction that the
smallest precincts would have “fewer problems ™ The caller, a math wacher,
agreed with my asseseroent and at some point lold me the Orecen Party observers
had asked that additional random precinets be added to or substituted for the
originally selectcd precincts 3o as to get @ more reproseniative sample, 1he



request was denicd by Dan Bere, the Director of the Clamont County Boerd of
Flectiors (*"BOE™). The ulber. even more alarming. issue raised ina call from
Clermont County that day had to do with irregular ballots discovered dunng the
390; hand recount. My notes of that call and two or more subsequent calls indicate
that Bob Drake told me:

(2) During the 3% hand rccount, Steve Spreley, obscrving for the Democrats,
saw gn optical sean ballot that had the Kerry “bubble™ covered up witha
white sticker the size of the bubblc and the Bush “bubble™ blackened, The
kallot had been counted as a Bush voi#. Onee this ballot was discovered.
they looked for, and found, more ballots with stickers over the Karry
“bubble.” Bob said vou coukl 1ell when you held the ballot np to the light
and Jooked on the back that the Kerry bubble was black nunder the sticker.

(b) When asked for an explanation of the stickers, BOE staff had professed
ignorance, i.e., they said they knew nothing about the usc of stickers.
Then recount observets found more stickers on the tabulating machine,
indicating, to them (at Jeast to the Greon Pasty obscrvers). that the stickers
had been 1n gencral uae. During the coursc of discussions about the
stickers. the story gradually changed and BOE staff admitted that the
stickers bad been used tn “fix” ballots for Bush that originally had been
vored for Kerry and erased. 1 was skeptical of this explapation becausc in
my readings ahont Ohio election law 1 had leamed that instructions to
voters for optical scan hallots were that if the voter mae 1 mistake, the
voler wais (o tum in the incorrectly-marked ballot and get a new one, and
could do that up 10 a total of three or four ballots. 1 Kkncw that voters are
nut given crasers to chenge their ballots, so if they were to erasc 2
miztaken blackening of a bubble, they would have to bave brought an
eraser with them, or borrowed one.

{c) Therc were also discovered ballots where the Kerry “bubble” was
blackened as well as the “bubble’’ for a write-in vote, and the name
“Kerry” or “Kerry/Ldwards” was written in on the write in line. It was
explained 1o me that this seemed to have happened whexn Kerrv/Edwards
appeared immediately above (be write-in line. In other words, the voter
had tried to voic for Kefry twice, just to make sure, or thought because the
write-in line was right below the Kerry/Edwards line that the voter who
wished to select Kerry/Fdwards should darken the bubble and write in the
pame. Any tallot so marked, according ta Bob, was treated as an
“gveryore™ rather than a vote for Kerry. Bob said he thought that where
(ke sune thing happened with Bush ballota (i.e., Bush was blackened
AND written in), the ballot was counted as 4 vole for Bush, but that may
have been speculation on his part — T never heard that possibility raised
again,

{d) There was a diseussion of thege i3sucs with members of the BOE, I was
told, and one member had proposed that the BOE board voie as t6 how the
aforementioned qucstionable ballots should be treated for putpuscs of the
hand recount.  That member conld not get any ather member to scoond his
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10.

motion. so the board refiired to vore on the issue. It was decided, then (1
know not by whom) that the altered (i ¢ | stickered) hallots would be
counted for hand recount tabulation purpases as votes for Bush, which
nant that the band count automatically would match the tabulator count
as to these ballots. T told Bob that [ thought the ballots at the very least
should be treated as ovcrvotes, since both Bush aud Kerry had becn
blackened. 1f they had been treated as overvotes in the hand recount, the
tabulator would still have countcd them as Bush votes and the hand count
and tabulator count wenild not have matched, reyulting in the necessity for
a 100% Land recount.

(e) The members of the BOE were scheduled to vote to certify the recount on
Deccember 16 at a board meeling scheduled for 2:00PM, despite the issucs
the recount observers had raised and despite the fact that the requested
uncoanted absentee ballots, uncoumted provisional ballots and pol)
signaturc books had so far heen refused to obsurvers.

The second day of the recount, Wednesday, T stayed home to take calls and be
close to rmy eomputer, where I ¢ould communicate with various recount
participants in different countics, since the Hamilton County rocount was
pruceading with few apparent problema, Later that day I suggested that T might
he more usefu) in Clenmont County on Thursday so that T could wlk to
participants in person and decide what to do about the upeoming board meeting to
certify the recount on Thursday. So I went to the Clermont Ceumty BOL to help
on December 16, I submitied 8 “Cobb Letter” and was admitted withour incident.
As the count progreased, it becarne apparcnt that Director “Danny™ Bare was
determined to certify the recount at the board meeting come Hcell or high watzr.
He was very clear io telling us that he intended to send his staff out on Christmas
lreak in the very near future. He emphasized that he would attend (o the recount
requests but “could not guarantee™ that anything would be achieved within a short
period of time, given the holiday schedules and other work his staff had to do. He
sajd he would not discuss providing poll books, uncounted absentee ballots and
uncountad provigiona) ballots unul the: hand recount was complste, although ther-
was 1o indication that he would not provide these other documnents in aceordance
with the Secretary of Stata”s reconnt guidelines after the hand count was
complete.

The Green Party abservers tald me they wanted to take some action to forestall
the premarure certification of the recount. so 1 suggested that they submit a letter
of demand 1o the board at the upeoring board esting at 2:00 on December 16
hefore the recount was certified. I said I would draft a letter with their help. They
instructed me to include the following Jemands and protests in the Jeticr. which
they intended to present prior to the recount certificatiop vote.

(a) a demand for disclosure from each board member, publicly. what
knowledge he or she had about the stickers diseovered on ballots in the



39 hand reconnt, including who aflixed the stickers. what was their
prpose and what was the legal authority in support of the practice,

{b) @ demand for an explanation frum each board member why the director
had not reprinted the absentes ballots to remove the name of Ralph Nader
as a candidate;

(¢) & demand for an explanation from each board member of cach deeision
made at the Tuesday, December 14 meeting of the board to count the
“gvervoles” and potentially altered ballots, specifically, (i) “shckered”
hallots; (ii} ballots where voters voted for Ketry/Edwards both by writing
in the names and biackening the “Kerry Fdwurds” bubble and (; i) ballots
indicating a vote for bath Ralph Nader and another candidate (which
Lallors were counted as vetes for the other candidule indicated, rather than
as overvotes);

(d) in the evenl the board voted to treat the hand revount ballots descnbed in
the immediately preceding paragraph in a maoner thut “furced” a match
with the tabulator count of such ballets, a protest by the Green Pasty of
such aetion on the grounds that it would lead to the false conclusion tha
no irregularities existed that justified a 100% hand recount in accordance
with the Secretary of State’s guidelines and a demand for & 100% recount
of the votes of Clermont County:

{€) in the absence of 1 100% haad recount and a completion of the review of
other doriments requested as part of the recount (i e . the poll books, the
uncoumted abseulee ballots and the uncounted provisional ballots), a
challenge by the Green Party to the premature ccntificstion of the
Clermont Cuunty 2004 elcction recount:

(f) in the event of no 100% recount. a demand for 4 hand recount of a larger
sarnpling of precincts that were more represemative of the constituency of
the county and an override by the board of the decision by Daony Bare,
Director of the BOE, not to pecommedate this request;

() in the event of no substitution of precincts as requested in (D). a ghmllenge
to the randomness of the selcered precincts undex the guidelines issued by
the Secictary of State:

(h) a restatement of the Green Panty’s request for edditional documents and a
challenge to the certification of the 2004 vote on the prounds that the
recount was not complete because there was no 100% hand recount and
the following had not been pmvided for reasonable review by the Green
Party witniesses:

() polliing books for all precintis

(if)  uncounted (rejectcd) absentee ballots

(i)  uncounted (rejected) provisional ballots (which should
include the namc and address of each provizional voter)

together with an explangtion in each case 23 to the renson for
the rejection;

~4



(i) arequest as citizens for names, addresses, telephone numbers and titles or
job duties of all employees, contractors, oflicials, board members and
others playing a role in the process of counting. recounting, systems
certification and other matters offecting the integrity of the 2004 clectian
in Cleniont County and a list of any conflicts of interest that they migin
have with respeet to the role played by them and onlipe minutes and other
public information as to the proceedings of the Tuesday, Deceinber 14
board mceting and Thursday, December {16 board mccting—)

11. 1 prepared the Ohio 2004 Cobb/Badnarik Recount Presentation at 2:00 PM Board
of Blections Meeting as requestcd, signed by Bob Drake as witness, Tina Herald
33 Clermont County Recoumt Coordinator and Cindy Asrir as Green Party
Regional Cuordinator. Bub Drake was chosen to present it at the board meeting
on behalf of the Green Party witnesscs before the certification vute by the board.
which be did. Wc provided copies io cach board member, the Director and
Depury Director. each Kerry, Bush, and Green Party witnesses who anended the
metting, e Ciacimnati Enquirer reporter and the New York Times stringer, Al
Salvato, all of whom aitended the portion of the board meeting preceding and
including the cerhfication of the recount and anyone else who asked for a copy.

12. At the 2:00 board mesting, which started late (T think because they had not
completed feeding the recount ballots through the tabulator, but in any casc
because BOE staff were working in the room coutaining the tabulating thachines),
the roum was crowded. A board member nmmed Priscilla was chairing the
meeting. Pristilla asked each person in the rooin to introduce himself or herself.
which ¢ach artendee did. Bob Drake requested the [loor, which request was
granted, and he read the Green Party dernand letrer, a copy of which i included
with this affidavit. When he had completed reading the entire letter, a Dymocratic
represcntative who bed just driven to from Columbiia made s statement generally
objecting to the board’s certification process. The board listéned and then went
Uuough the iterns on our list Much of the meeting was procedural The
highlights of greatcst wterest to us were-

(7) The board asked Nanny Bare for an explanation of the stickering of
ballots. He mostly launched into a detailed account of how they “used 1o”
deal with “spoiled” (i.e . damaged) baliots. He said witha Republican #nd
Dernocrat both present, they labeled the damaged ballot “original” and
created 2 new ballot with the sarnc roarkings, labeling it “duplicate” and
then had the Republican and Demoacrat sign each ballot. What I thought
he was saving, although he was rambling and not very clear, was that they
had substituted the “sticker” uethod of altering the original ballot for the

2 This final demand was madc because Green Farty pbservers told mo that an employec of the eoonty had
indicated to Green Party observers that the outside contracters employed to certify Uie vote tabulating
machines wei ¢ ilood celatives of the Republican members of the ROE and it was her vupgestion that the
okxervers look into conflicis of Interest at the BOE
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duplicats procedurc. I don’t know what that hus to do with the ballots in
question, because they were not ballots that were damaged in the hularor
and there were no Republican and Nemocrst signatures on the stickered
ballots discovered during the recount. The bouard members were
conducting thc mecting al this point and we were only observing, so there
was no opportunity for observers to pin down Danny on this point. I do
remember the boasd evpressly asking Danny whether he believed Wt the
use of stickers was a permisstble procedurc to use and he said yes. his
interpretation of Ohic law was that it was OK. Board members seeimed w
gecept his explanation,

(b) Priscilla went cround the wble and asked cach board member to share
what he or she knaw about the stickering of ballota ATl of the board
members profezsed to know nothing about it

(c) The board said requests for affiliations of board members and employees
of the BOE would be provided to the Green Panty at a latcr date. At the
bourd’s cxpress request, Danny agreed to provide the requested poll
books. rejected absentee ballots and rejected provisional ballois.

{d) Therc was a discussion of the issue of removal of Nader’s name from the
ballots, and & discussion ensued duringt which board members shared thejr
recollections of what had happened in (e process of getting absentec
hallots printed. 1 was not much interested in this issne and so did not
listeh particularly intcntly. observing only that what the board said was
backing up Danny Bare’s previous statements w observers that there had
been no time to reprint the ballots to remnve Nadex's vame. The question
why they did nut physically eross the name off the ballots after they were
printed was not raised.

(2) I think it was after going through the items on our demand letter list. the
hoard returned to the business as set forth in the mecting agenda. although
I mav have the order wrong on that. Ultimately, the board voted to certity
the recount despitc our objections.

We left the meeting shonly after the certification was compleicd and went out
into the lobhy, where reporters were interviewing various members of the
observer teams. We waired for the meeling 10 end to tulk to Danny Bare about
what was on the agenda for the neeount the next day (Friday). He came out and
emphasized he was gning to cooperaic but had limited emplovees available
becausc they had vacations scheduled the next week and there was other pressing
BOE business for thern 1o artemid to This scemed ominous to me. The Grean
Party observers asked when they should come back to resume activitics the next
day. and he sajd “8:00 am.”

I did not return to Clarmont County for the remainder of the recount. In later
exchanges with Tina Herald. [ learned that they had mads no prograss in getting
the poll books, rejected provisional hallots and rejected absentee ballots. The
group appeared somewhat dejected, feeling that there appesred to be no remedy



December 16. There, he said that years ago, they used 1o use the
sticker method of correcting “spoiled” votes, i.e., ballots that were
misread by the scanner due to erasures or stray marks that could not
be adequately removed with an eraser. He said they then went to the
“duplicate ballot” method, In all cases, there was one Democrat and
one Republican present, With the duplicate bailot syster, election
officials clearly 1abel the duplicate card as a duplicate and the original
as the original. But we found out later that duplicate cards are used
only for damaged ballots, The Green Party requested a citation to the
authority for usc of stickcrs to alter votes. The Board (and/or Bare)
indicated it believed the authority for use of duplicate ballots covered
the use of stickers. The ballots that were found with stickers were not
accompanied by any docuimentation indicating witnessing of a
Democrat and a Republican, so, in my opinion, this fact puls the
explanation given in doubt.

Randomness of precinct selection:

17.Observers were told by the Clermont County Board of Elections that a
random selection of precincts was not used. Rather, the smallest
thirteen precincts were chosen, and one of the larger precincts was
added to reach the 3% for the hand count. “This will provide fewer
crrors on the recount,” according to one of the Board of Elections
members. Requests o use a random mcthod to select the precincts
chosen for the 3% hand count were rgjected by Dan Bare and
subsequently by the Board of Elections when the request was made at
the December 16 meeting, |

Rallot Boxes and Keys:

18. When we arrived for the recount the ballot boxes were not sealed, nor
did the doors to the Board of Elections offices mect the securily
criteria for ballot boxes, They cach had a very small master key lock.
The keys were not for a security lock, nor were they printed with the
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for what we perceived was an incomplctc recount with unaddressed problems.
We looked put for newspaper stories the next day about the recount but did not
biear of any stories reporting irregularitics in any of the recounts being conducted
in our region.

After the Clermont County recount certification, I was in telephone and cmail
conac! with Bethe Goldenfield, Green Party recount coordinator for Warren
County. Bethe said her tearn was having trouble getting access to poll books,
rejected provisional ballots and rejected absentee ballots. Bethe shared her
preliminary reports with me and told me some of the problems, including some
similar problems to those encountered in Clermont County. Among other things.
T helieve it was Rethe who told me that the “random™ salaction of 3% hand
rocount countics had been done by taking ballot boxes out of the safe until they
had enough ballots to reach the 3% requirement. Bethe said the BOE staff in
Warren County had indicated recount observers would he given the poll hooks
and rejecied ballots, but later, I think after some discussions liad taken place with
someonc from the Secretary of State’s Office. the requests were denied on the
grounds that the recount puidelines issued by the Secretary of State were
“optional” and not mandatory. Bethe said the istue was to be decided by the
Warren Connty prascrartor, who ultimately ruled that access would be granted,
but not until probably the first week in Janyary. Later, Bethe sent an email asking
why and how C. Ellen Connally (obscure candidate for Supreme Court Justice)
received more votes than Kerry in Warren County--28 4 /0 to 26.044..

Attosted this 25™ day of January, 2005.

Swom before me and subseribed in my presence this J_r day of January, 200S.
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NATARY PUBLIC

JESSE OBEAT

Puio, Sinks of Otdo

My commission expires on: yy aomoesion Exgos Jan. 27, 208
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